1967

Richard P. Hampton And Patricia L. Hampton, His
Wife v. State Of Utah: Utah State Road
Commission; Ernest H. Balch; Elias J. Strong;
Francis Feltch; W. J. Smirl; Ames K. Bagley; Utah
State Department Of Highways; C. Taylor Burton :
Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought against the State of Utah, the State Road Commission, the individual members thereof, and others to enjoin them from building a fence and a guardrail across a public right-of-way in front of and adjoining appellants' residence in a manner which interferes with and restricts the appellants' right of ingress and egress to and from their property so as to constitute a taking of their property. This action is brought pursuant to Article 1, Section 22, Article 1 Section 7, and Article 1 Section 11 of the Utah Constitution and pursuant to the 14th amendment to the Con-

stitution of the United States to recover compensation for the taking and damaging without due process of law of private property belonging to the appellants.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After the Complaint was filed, the respondents State of Utah, et al, made a motion to dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that it failed to state a cause of action. This motion was argued before the Honorable Thornley K. Swan, Judge of the District Court for Davis County on December 8, 1964. Nearly three years thereafter, on July 14, 1967, and pursuant to an alternative Writ of Mandamus from the Supreme Court, Judge Swan entered a ruling dismissing the Complaint on the merits, and with prejudice.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellants seek to reverse the ruling of the said Thornley K. Swan and to remand this matter for trial where all the evidence bearing on these issues can be presented.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellants are the owners of certain real property together with a house and other improvements located thereon in the City of Clearfield, County of Davis, State of Utah, and described more particularly as follows:

All of Lot 19, TERRACE VIEW SUBDIVISION, a part of Section 1, Township 4 North, Range 2 West, Salt Lake Base and Meridian, in the City of Clearfield, County of Davis, State of Utah, according to the official plat thereof.

The Appellants have owned and possessed their said property since August, 1959, and since that time have enjoyed the peaceable possession of said property.

On or about October, 1963, the respondents, with the exception of the American Fence Company of Ogden, began to construct Interstate 15 as a public highway immediately adjacent to the property above described and upon 300 North Street, a public road running East and West in front of appellants' property and in which they had an established property right. The Respondents did not commence any condemnation proceedings as to these Appellants.

The construction activities were performed by the respondents in a negligent, careless, and reckless manner, and in complete disregard of the rights of the appellants as owners of the private property herein above described, and further have been performed in a manner which amounts to a direct taking of appellants' property rights in 300 North Street and a substantial injury and damage to the remaining property not actually taken. The Complaint alleges special harm and injury to the appellants herein not shared by other members of the community and in a manner which will not promote the greatest public good. It is alleged this negligent construction has proximately damaged the appellant's property by vibration caused by equipment operation, from excessive amounts of dust which have been deposited on their property, from excessive noise, by causing cracking in the walls and ceilings of the Appellants' home, and for other reasons, all of which have substan-

tially and materially interfered with the peaceable use and possession of their property, and all of which have depreciated the fair market value of their property. As a sole, direct and proximate cause thereof, the appellants claim damages in the amount of \$6,000.

In addition to these negligent design and construction activities, the appellants allege a direct taking of their property rights in 300 North Street and a substantial damage to the remainder of their property not actually taken. The appellants allege that in 1959 they constructed a driveway onto their property, which driveway, together with 300 North Street [a public road in the center of Clearfield, which runs directly in front of the Plaintiffs' property] jointly provided the only means of access to the property. Since 1959, the appellants had used 300 North Street in both easterly and westerly directions as a means of access to their property and did thereby acquire a substantial property right in the said street.

However, after the construction activities on Interstate 15 were commenced and respondents erected a fence across the entire distance of said 300 North Street in front of Appellants' property and further erected a guard railing across said street a few feet from said fence and further excavated 300 North Street easterly from said fence. This action was done in an arbitrary, careless, negligent, and reckless manner and in complete disregard of the rights of the Appellants.

As a sole, proximate, and direct result of this action by the Respondent, the Appellants now find that it is impossible to use 300 North Street as a means of access

to their property, and they further allege that there has been a substantial interference with the right of ingress and egress to and from their property and they claim this action constitutes a taking of and damage of their property rights for which they should be compensated pursuant to the Constitutional provisions set forth above.

The State of Utah, et al, admitted the taking and damaging of the easement and property rights of the Appellants and have offered to rebuild and realign their driveway so as to provide ingress and egress to the said property. This proposal was rejected by Appellants on the grounds that it would materially and adversely damage their property by lowering the fair market value thereof.

The Appellants submitted a written claim in the amount of \$8,000 to the respondent, Utah Department of Highways, in December, 1963. This claim was rejected on August 20, 1964, by the said Department of highways acting through its authorized agent, Llewellyn O. Thomas.

After the claim was rejected by the State of Highways, the Appellants commenced the instant action on or about October, 1964. The Complaint herein sets forth the foregoing facts, and is by reference incorporated herein and made a part hereof at this time.

At the time of filing the Complaint, the Honorable Thornley K. Swan issued an order directing the Respondents, State of Utah, et al, to appear before his Court on November 16, 1964, then and there to show cause why a preliminary injunction should not be entered

against them and why they should not remove the fence and guardrail across 300 North Street so as to restore to the Appellants their property rights, or in the alternative, why the Respondents should not be ordered to commence condemnation proceedings pursuant to Article 1 Section 22 of the Utah Constitution.

After the issuance of the said Order to Show Cause, the Respondents filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint on the grounds that it failed to state a cause of action. The said motion was set for hearing on November 17, 1964, but was continued by request of the Respondent's counsel until December 8, 1964.

On December 8, 1964, the said motion was argued and thereafter a minute entry was entered in the official record as follows:

"This matter comes before the court for hearing Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Order to Show Cause, with James A. McIntosh, Esq., appearing as counsel for Plaintiffs, and Joseph S. Knowlton, Esq., as counsel for Defendants. Motion to Dismiss is argued by counsel, and the matter is taken under advisement."

After said December 8, 1964, the said Thornley K. Swan failed, refused, and neglected to enter his decision upon the said Motion to Dismiss notwithstanding repeated efforts by counsel to have the said motion decided. Finally, on or about July 5, 1967, the appellants filed a petition for a Writ of Mandamus in the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, [Case No. 10963] requesting that

the Supreme Court require the said Thornley K. Swan to decide the said Motion to Dismiss.

Pursuant thereto, the Supreme Court issued an alternative Writ of Mandamus requiring the said Thornley K. Swan to enter his decision on this matter by July 17, 1967, or appear before the Supreme Court to Show Cause why he should not decide the said Motion.

Thereafter, the said Thornley K. Swan called counsel for both parties and asked them to appear in his Court for another hearing on this matter. This hearing was held on July 14, 1967, at which time the parties reargued their respective position. Thereafter, the Court entered its ruling dismissing the Complaint. No cases were cited by the Court nor were any findings of fact or conclusions of law entered.

On August 10, 1967, the Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal to this court.

The only issue in this case is whether the State of Utah, by and through its Road Commission, Department of Highways, and individual members thereof, have the constitutional right to take and/or damage private property of the Appellants herein without due process of law. If a motion to dismiss is upheld under the circumstances set forth in the Complaint, the Appellants are denied a trial on the issues herein and their property is subject to a taking and to substantial damage without due process of law.

POINT I

BY ERECTING A FENCE AND GUARDRAIL ACROSS 300 NORTH STREET IN SUCH A MANNER AS TO SUBSTANTIALLY INTERFERE WITH THE APPELLANTS' USE OF SAID STREET AS A MEANS OF INGRESS AND EGRESS TO AND FROM THEIR PROPERTY, THE RESPONDENTS HAVE TAKEN THE APPELLANTS' PROPERTY WITHOUT A HEARING AND WITHOUT PAYING JUST COMPENSATION AS REQUIRED BY THE 14th AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND AS REQUIRED BY ARTICLE I SECTION 22 AND ARTICLE I SECTION 11 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

A. *A Motion to Dismiss admits the truth of all the allegations in the Complaint:* The Motion to Dismiss was filed by the State of Utah; Utah State Road Commission; Ernest H. Balch; Elias J. Strong; Franchis Felteh; W. J. Smirl; Ames K. Bagley; Utah State Department of Highways; C. Taylor Burton. The other Defendants are not involved in this appeal. The moving parties are all part of the administrative hierarchy of the State of Utah through the State Road Commission and the Department of Highways. Judge Swan ruled that the complaint failed to state a cause of action as to these respondents.

None of the said respondents offered any exhibits, affidavits, depositions, or other evidence at any of the hearings on the said Motion to Dismiss. Consequently, the only matter before the Court was whether the complaint itself was sufficient to constitute a cause of action. This case must be determined by the allegations of the complaint and not by anything dehor the record herein.

In such cases, this Court has repeatedly held that the

trial Judge must view the Complaint as though all allegations therein could be proven as true, and should not pass upon proof which may or may not be produced later in support of those allegations. *Liquor Control Commission v. Atlas*, 121 Utah 457, 243 P. 2d 441 [1952]

B. *The Complaint sets forth a cause of action against the Respondents for taking the Appellants' property without a hearing and without the payment of just compensation:* Count II of the Appellants' Complaint alleges that the Appellants had been using 300 North Street in Clearfield, Utah for a period of six years before the Respondents commenced the construction of the highway facilities. 300 North Street runs in an east and west direction directly in front of the Appellants' property. The Appellants allege this street provided the only means whereby the Appellants could drive onto their property and could leave their property. Count II further states that the Appellants had constructed a driveway on their property and have been using 300 North Street together with the driveway since 1959 as the only means of access to and from the property. The Complaint states that after six years of established use and in 1963, the Respondents erected a fence across 300 North Street and further erected a guardrail near the fence which cut off the use of 300 North Street by the Appellants. Count II further alleges that the Respondents have agreed to rebuild and realign the Appellants' driveway but the Respondents would not pay any damages for the loss in market value because of the relocated driveway. Count II asks for \$8,000 damages

for lowering the fair market value of Appellants' property and Count III asks for an injunction against the Respondents preventing them from proceeding further with the construction of Interstate 15 until they fill 300 North Street and remove the fence and guardrail across 300 North Street, thereby allowing the Appellants access to their property and the peaceable use and occupancy thereof.

The earliest Utah case which holds that the owner of property abutting a public street has a property right in the street itself is *Dooly Block v. Salt Lake Rapid Transit Company*, 9 Utah 31, 33 Pac. 229 (1893). In *Dooly*, Salt Lake City had granted a franchise to the Salt Lake City Railroad Company to install additional railroad tracks on a public street known as 2nd South Street in Salt Lake City, Utah. The Appellants owned certain lots abutting 2nd South Street. They contended they were entitled to the free unobstructed use of the street as a means of access to their property. They alleged that by reason of the "Several uses with which it (2nd South) had been burdened, the ordinary use thereof for public travel and ingress and egress to the several premises had become impeded and embarrassed." On page 37 of the Utah Reports the Court held as follows:

"It follows that, when land is plotted by the owners of the soil, and lots sold, bounded by a street designated on the plat, *the grantee acquires a right to the street in front of the premises as a means of access.* [Citations omitted] Nor does it matter in this case that the fee is in the city

in trust for the use for the public, instead of in the abutting owner in trust for street purposes. Equally in both cases, the abutting owners are entitled to the use of the street as a means of access to their lots. . . . If the fee is in the city, the rights of the abutter are in the nature of equitable easements in fee; if in the abutter, they are in their nature legal. In either case, the abutters have the right to have the street kept open and not obstructed so as to interfere with their easements and materially diminish the value of their property. When the lots of the plaintiffs were sold under the town-site act, above mentioned, it was in effect, agreed with the grantees that they were entitled to the use of the street as a means of ingress, egress, light, and air. These rights were inducements to purchasers, became a part of the purchase, are appurtenances to the land which cannot so embarrassed or abridged as to materially interfere with its proper use and enjoyment *and they are in effect, property of which the owners cannot be deprived without due compensation.*

“Counsel for appellant contend that, subject to special constitutional restrictions, the legislature has plenary power over all public ways and streets. If this position be tenable, then, in the absence of special constitutional restrictions, the legislature may authorize municipalities to devote the entire width of a street to railroad purposes, regardless of the property rights of abutting owners without compensation to injury to the property. This theory does not appear to be sustained by the authorities. *The legislature may delegate power over streets to municipalities, but in doing so it must recognize the property rights of a private individual . . .*

“[Page 41] The full conception of the true nature of a public street in a city as respects the right of the public on the one hand and the rights of the adjoining owner on the other has been slowly evolved from experience. It has been only at a recent period in our legal history that these two distinct rights have separately and in their relations to each other, come to be understood and defined with precision. The injustice to the abutting owner arising from the exercise of unrestrained and legislative powers over streets in cities were such that the abutter necessarily sought legal redress, and the discussion thence ensuing led to a more careful ascertainment of the nature of streets and of the rights of the adjoining owner in respect thereof. It would seem that he had, in common with the rest of the public of right of passage *but it was also further seen that he had rights not shared by the public at large, special and peculiar to himself, and which arose out of the relation of his lot to the street in front of it; and that these rights, whether the bare fee of the street was in the lot owner or in the city, were rights of property, and as such, ought to be, and were, sacred from legislative invasion as his right to the lot itself.*” [Emphasis Added]

The *Dooly* case was decided in 1893 which was before the Constitutional Convention and before Utah become a state. However the fundamental property concepts expressed in the *Dooly* case were very carefully considered by the delegates to the Constitutional Convention as recorded in the minutes of said convention. These minutes are set forth hereinafter in this brief. It was clear that not only did the delegates to the Constitutional Convention want to protect the rights of

property owners who owned lots abutting public streets, but the Supreme Court of the State of Utah also recognized these rights after the Constitutional Convention.

In the case of *Morris v. The Oregon Shortline Railroad Company*, 36 Utah 14, 102 Pac. 629 (1909), the Plaintiff brought an action to recover damages as an abutting owner of certain property arising by reason of the construction and operation of a certain railroad in a public street in Salt Lake City. The trial judge found that the property owner had a right in the public street which ought to be protected pursuant to Article 1 Section 22 of the Utah Constitution. The Supreme Court stated in part as follows:

“[Page 17 Utah Reports] The theory adopted by the trial court was that an action by an abutting owner for damages to his property occasioned by the construction and operation of a commercial railroad in a public street in front of his property *by which ingress and egress to and from the property is impeded*, and the uses otherwise directly affected, comes within the provision of Section 22 Article 1 of our Constitution which reads: ‘Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation.’ *That an owner of property, which abuts on a public street, has such a property right in the street that he may in a proper action, recover damages for an interference with such right, when such interference directly affects his property, is too well settled by authorities to require further discussion.* Nor are the elements which may be considered in determining the damages to the property owner longer open to consideration. In such an action, everything which arises out of

the proper construction and proper operation of the railroad which directly affects the saleable value of the abutting property may ordinarily be considered as elements in assessing damages. Many things are usually taken into consideration in such actions, which would not give rise to an independent action, and in such a case all the damages are assessed as constituting a single cause of action, and the measure of such damages is the amount that the property has depreciated in market value. This is amply illustrated by the authorities. [citations omitted] Such an action is no different in principal from an action for damages to the remaining property where a part only is condemned. *The easement the abutting owner has in the street is a property right, and an interference with this right is, to the extent of the interference, deemed a taking of property for which, if such taking directly injures the abutting property, as aforesaid, the owner may recover damages.*" [Emphasis added]

The *Dooly* case and the *Morris* case clearly show that the abutting property owner has a *property right in the street* and the State of Utah cannot construct improvements in or across the public street where the affect of this construction is to interfere with or impede the abutting property owner in his use of the street as a means of ingress and egress to his property. The two cases cited clearly show that the property owner is protected by Article 1 Section 22 of the Utah Constitution.

These theories of property rights were also again reaffirmed by the Utah Supreme Court in a case decided in 1963, *Utah Road Commission v. Hansen*, 14 U.

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