1967

Richard P. Hampton And Patricia L. Hampton, His
Wife v. State Of Utah: Utah State Road
Commission; Ernest H. Balch; Elias J. Strong;
Francis Feltch; W. J. Smirl; Ames K. Bagley; Utah
State Department Of Highways; C. Taylor Burton :
Brief of Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT.

A. TO PROPERLY CONSIDER THE MERITS OF THE INSTANT CASE, IT IS NECESSARY TO IDENTIFY AND RECOGNIZE THE TYPE OF PROPERTY RIGHT OR INTEREST ALLEGEDLY APPROPRIATED BY RESPONDENTS.

Respondents agree with appellants that, for the purposes of an appeal arising from the granting of a motion to dismiss, the appellate court accepts the facts as set forth in appellants' complaint. **Hurst v. Highway Dep't**, 16 Utah 2nd 153, 397 P.2d 71 (1964). Initially, however, respondents submit that as a matter of law, respondents are immune from suit in each and every allegation contained in appellants' complaint and that appellants totally fail to state a cause of action on which relief may be granted.

To adequately consider the merits of the instant case, it is necessary that appellants' pleadings be examined to determine the type of property right or interest allegedly appropriated by respondents. In this regard, it is of the utmost importance to recognize that appellants do not allege the taking of any real property contained within the legal description of appellants' property deed. Therefore, the only possible property rights or interest that have allegedly been appropriated by respondents are, (1) the alleged impairment of ingress and egress to appellants' property and (2) the allegation that appellants owned the public street abutting the front of their property to the center line and that respondents have appropriated a portion of that street so owned by appellants.

As to the allegation that appellants own the public street abutting the front of their property to the center line, respondent submits that such allegation is totally without merit. This allegation is evidently based on the incorrect assumption that there has been an abandonment of the public street abutting the front of appellants' property. The lower court did not err in refusing to consider this allegation because there has been no abandonment as a matter of law.

Therefore, based on the pleadings, the type of property right or interest allegedly appropriated by respondents is the alleged damage to or destruction of appellants' claimed easement of ingress and egress.

**B. THE ALLEGED DAMAGES COMPLAINED
OF BY APPELLANTS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO
JUDICIAL REVIEW.**

It must first be noted that for the purposes of this appeal, respondents are willing to concede that whatever damages appellants could prove by virtue of the alleged interference with the easement of access could be considered compensable under the damage provision of Utah Const. Art. I § 22. However, this concession does not alleviate the problem for the instant case raises the issue as to the proper procedure to be pursued by appellants in satisfying their claim. Respondents submit that if compensation is due appellants, it must come from the Utah State Board of Examiners and the Utah State Legislature, and not through the courts.

A distinction has developed between private property taken for public use and private property damaged by and through public use. This basic distinction has further developed into a segregation of the remedial procedures available to an aggrieved party.

This developed distinction, which has evolved into the established law in this jurisdiction, had as its inception the eloquent dissent of Chief Justice Wolfe in **State by State Road Comm'n v. District Court, Fourth Judicial District**, 94 Utah 384, 78 P.2d 502 (1937). In that case the court considered the construction by the Utah State Road Commission of a viaduct structure that deprived the abutting landowners of convenient access, light, air, and

view (94 Utah 388). The court concluded that although the Utah State Road Commission, as an agency of the State of Utah, was immune from suit, the individual road commissioners could be enjoined from the alleged infliction of consequential damages on the basis that Utah Const. art I § 22, was self-executing (94 Utah 397). In his dissent, Chief Justice Wolfe took the authoritative position that Utah Const. art. I, § 22, was substantive and not procedural. As justification for this position the Chief Justice reasoned that while compensation is guaranteed by that constitutional provision the procedure to be employed in satisfying the compensation requirement is not set forth. That constitutional provision does not guarantee that compensation shall be first paid before damage occurs. It guarantees only that upon damage, compensation will be paid.

In discussing the evolution of the definition of the terms "taken or damaged" as found in Utah Const. art. I, § 22, Chief Justice Wolfe recognized that prior to 1870, only the word "taking" was included within the constitutional provisions. This necessitated an expansion of the definition of the word "taken" to include instances of not only a physical take, but also cases where the use or enjoyment of the property was so impaired as to be tantamount to a take. However, because of the subsequent inclusion of the word "damaged" in state constitutions, it became necessary to maintain the expanded definition of the word "taken."

As stated by Chief Justice Wolfe at 94 Utah 408:

The remedy to prevent a 'taking' without agreed compensation or condemnation would be injunction because such taking would be without authority. The remedy for damages caused by an agency of the State performing its functions would be enforced as it is enforced in all other cases against the State where remedy is not specifically given by statute, to wit, by resort to the board of examiners.

In summarizing his position, Chief Justice Wolfe stated at 94 Utah 434, 435:

Sec. 22, Art. I, of our Constitution, guarantees persons whose property is taken or damaged for public use just compensation, but there is no guarantee that compensation be first paid before the damage.

* * *

Whether the Road Commissioners were suable depends upon whether they were in fact acting lawfully for a state agency authorized to do the work the Road Commissioners were doing.

The Road Commissioners were not acting outside of their authority when they, by constructing the viaduct on the state highway, caused consequential injuries to abutting owners as described in the complaint for an injunction.

The Road Commission is subject to the due process clauses of both Federal and our State Constitutions, but if the use is a public one the fact that proprietors whose property is "damaged" consequential to an improvement of the highway by the Road Commission, as distinguished from a "taking," are compelled to go to the Board of Examiners for inquiry and ascertainment of the damage instead of a court, does not withdraw from such proprietors the protection of due process.

This distinction between the "taking" and "damaging" of property received recognition in **State by State Road Comm'n v. Rozzelle**, 101 Utah 464, 120 P.2d 276 (1941), wherein this court stated at 101 Utah 467:

To the extent that the present taking or construction so violates condemnee's rights, he is entitled to recover; but be the loss what it may it must have a causal connection with the taking of the property or the construction thereon. [Emphasis added.]

Several recent cases also serve to illustrate this distinction. In **Fairclough v. Salt Lake County**, 10 Utah 2d 417, 354 P.2d 105 (1960), this court considered an action by abutting property owners for damages accruing when the Utah State Road Commission constructed a highway project on a reduced grade of sixteen feet below the abutting property. This court held that sovereign immunity constituted a bar to the action.

In **Springville Banking Co. v. Burton**, 10 Utah 2d 100, 349 P.2d 157 (1960), this court held that mandamus would not be available to compel the individual members of the Utah State Road Commission to initiate condemnation proceedings for damages allegedly caused by the impairment of the ingress to and egress from private property.

In **State v. Parker**, 13 Utah 2d 65, 368 P.2d 585 (1962), the fundamental question was whether the State was suable for consequential damages to property not sought for condemnation. This court

concluded that the State was not suable under the circumstances and also recognized the necessity of a causal connection between an impairment of ingress and egress and the actual physical taking of property.

Also, in **Hurst v. Highway Dep't**, 16 Utah 2d 153, 397 P.2d 71 (1964), this court held that sovereign immunity was a bar to an action for damages and injunctive relief against the operation of a gravel pit belonging to the State and allegedly constituting a nuisance. See also **Sine v. Helland**, 18 Utah 2d 222, 418 P.2d 979 (1966).

The common denominator in these cases is the fact that there was not an actual physical appropriation of private property. Rather, the damages resulted from operations and activities adjacent to the private property. In every instance, this court concluded that judicial recourse was not available to the aggrieved party. These findings illustrate and solidify the position taken by Chief Justice Wolfe in **State by State Road Comm'n v. District County, Fourth Judicial District, supra**, that Utah Const. art. I, § 22, is substantive and not procedural. If Utah Const. art. I, § 22, was procedural, judicial recourse would be available to the aggrieved party. However, this is clearly not the case.

The next consideration is whether Utah Const. art. I, § 22, is self-executing. This consideration is basically intertwined with the consideration as to whether the constitutional provision is substantive or procedural in that, if it is found to be self-execut-

ing, it must necessarily be a foundation on which to justify judicial review.

This consideration was adequately answered in **Fairclough v. Salt Lake County, supra**, wherein this court stated at 354 P.2d 106:

... consistently and historically we have ruled that the State may not be sued without its consent; taken the view that Art. I, Sec. 22 of our Constitution is not self-executing, nor does it give consent to be sued, implied or otherwise; and that to secure such consent is a legislative matter, a principle recognized by the legislature itself.

The above-cited cases have established that the term "taken" as found in Utah Const. art. I § 22, is applicable only where there has been a direct physical appropriation of private property. Where there is a direct physical appropriation of private property without just compensation, judicial review may arguably be available to the aggrieved party because the state agency, in so acting, did so without authority. However, where private property is consequentially damaged by virtue of the construction of a public improvement, judicial review is not available to the aggrieved party. Under such circumstances, the proper course of procedure is to present the matter to the Utah State Board of Examiners and the Utah State Legislature.

A full recitation of authorities is not necessary for the proposition that the Utah State Road Commission, as an agency of the State of Utah, is immune from suit until consent is given. It is also well

established that Utah Const. art. I, § 22, does not operate as either an express or implied waiver of immunity. **Fairclough v. Salt Lake County**, *supra*. To this principle is added the proposition that a suit against a public officer is in reality a suit against the State unless the public officer acted beyond the scope of his authority. **Wilkinson v. State**, 42 Utah 483, 134 Pac. 626 (1913). There being no conceivable basis on which to say the construction of the access control fence and guard rail facility were not accomplished pursuant to the authority vested in respondents, the instant case is obviously a suit directed against agencies and public officers vested with sovereign immunity.

In summary, respondents submit that the instant case does not present a situation whereby private property has been taken, physically appropriated, for a public improvement without just compensation. If such was the case, a suit may arguably be maintained because respondents acted beyond the scope of their authority. However, in the instant case, the situation is one of an alleged damage to an access easement. The firmly imbedded doctrine of sovereign immunity precludes judicial intervention in matters involving consequential damages of this nature. Utah Const. art. I, § 22, is substantive and not procedural, and also not self-executing and does not serve as a foundation on which to predicate judicial review. Absent a physical appropriation, the only recourse available to appellants is a presentation of their claim to the Utah State Board of Examiners and the Utah State

Legislature. This court has no alternative but to affirm the lower court's dismissal of appellants' complaint.

C. SEVERAL CONTENTIONS ASSERTED BY APPELLANTS ARE TOTALLY WITHOUT MERIT AND MAY BE DISPOSED OF SUMMARILY.

In the course of their brief, appellants make certain assertions which respondents submit are totally without merit. In an effort not to overburden this court with undue rhetoric, respondents will attempt to summarily dispose of these issues.

Appellants allege that the instant case comes within the purview of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-1 to -34 (Supp. 1967). However, appellants fail to recognize that the Utah Governmental Immunity Act applies only to claims and actions arising after July 1, 1966. The construction activities complained of by appellants, i.e., the construction of the access control fence and guard rail facility, were accomplished facts in October of 1964 when service of process was executed on the respondent. Therefore, appellants' claim arose before July 1, 1966.

Also, it must be noted that appellants' reliance on the Utah Governmental Immunity Act is defeated by the provisions of the act itself. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-12 (Supp. 1967), requires that a claim against the State must be preceded by notice thereof filed with the Attorney General of the State of

Utah and that such claim is forever barred unless the notice is filed within one year after the cause of action arises. Appellants' allege to have given notice to the State of Utah in 1964, but fail to appreciate that the Utah Governmental Immunity Act was nonexistent in 1964. Thus, even if the Utah Governmental Immunity Act applied to the facts of the instant case, which respondents' vigorously deny, it must be conceded that the appellants have failed to exhaust their administrative remedies in filing a proper notice with the Utah State Attorney General's office for consideration of their claim. The notice given in 1964 is insufficient to comply with the provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act which was not effective until July 1, 1966.

It may also be noted that the Utah Governmental Immunity Act provides a blanket immunity to all governmental entities except as that immunity is withdrawn by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. (Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3) (Supp. 1967). The type of action pursued by appellant in the instant case, not specifically exempted from the blanket of immunity, is barred.

One additional problem must be considered in that appellants seek to enjoin the individual members of the Utah State Road Commission. Appellants' reliance on **State by State Road Comm'n v. District Court, Fourth Judicial District, supra**, is obvious. The justification given by this court in the issuance of the injunction in that case was on the

theory that Utah Const. art. I, § 22, was self-executing (94 Utah 397). As noted above, Mr. Chief Justice Wolfe logically annihilated the justification given by the majority based principally on the fact that Utah Const. art. I, § 22, is substantive and not procedural. Also, it is well established that Utah Const. art. I, § 22, is not self-executing.

Any reliance which appellants may give to **Shaw v. Salt Lake County**, 119 Utah 50, 224 P.2d 1037 (1950), as support for the issuance of an injunction is misplaced. In **Hurst v. Highway Dep't, supra**, an application for an injunction on a theory of nuisance was denied. This court stated at 397 P.2d 74:

We have concluded as indicated in this decision regardless of what may have been said in the case of **Shaw v. Salt Lake County**. . . .

Also, the propriety of an injunction issued against the individual members of the Utah State Road Commission is no longer at issue in the instant case because the complained of acts, i.e., the construction of an access control fence and guard rail, are already an accomplished fact. This is admitted in appellants' complaint and brief.

The inconsistency between those decisions which do not allow personal liability for damages, **Hjorst v. Whittenburg, supra**; mandamus to compel eminent domain proceedings, **Springville Banking Co. v. Burton, supra**, **Fairclough v. Salt Lake County, supra**; the dismissal of a counterclaim on the grounds that a counterclaimant could not be in

a better position than a plaintiff, **State v. Parker, supra**, and allowing that which appellant seeks in the instant case is obvious and intolerable.

CONCLUSION

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